2006

Utah v. Powell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The Defendant, George Aaron Powell ("Powell"), appeals from the judgment, conviction and sentence in Fifth District Court of assault against a peace officer, a class A misdemeanor; interference with an arresting officer, a class B misdemeanor; and no evidence of security, a class B misdemeanor.

B. Trial Court Proceedings and Disposition

Powell was charged by information with assault against a peace officer, in violation of § 76-5-102.4, Utah Code Ann.; interference with an arresting officer, in violation of § 76-8-305, Utah Code Ann.; and no evidence of security, in violation of § 41-12a-303.2, Utah Code Ann. (R. 1-2). Trial on all charges was held on March 10, 2006 (R. 103).

During the course of the trial, Powell pled guilty to count 2, interference with an arresting officer (R. 59).¹ The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the other two counts as well (R. 63, 103:82).

¹ Despite an indication in the minute orders that Powell pled guilty to count 2 during a meeting in chambers (R. 58-59), the plea was apparently not transcribed and there is no written documentation of it in the record. Despite the presumptive

On April 25, 2006, Powell was sentenced to one year in jail on the assault charge and six months on each of the other two counts (R. 80-82, 104:5). All jail time was suspended and Powell was placed on 24 months probation (*id.*).

Powell filed timely *pro se* notices of appeal on May 2, 2006 and May 9, 2006 (R. 83, 84-85) and his attorney also filed a timely notice of appeal on May 9, 2006 (R. 87). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

All charges arose from an incident that occurred on March 19, 2005, in which Officer Clayton Lucas of the St. George City Police Department observed a van being operated with both a temporary registration permit and a license plate (R. 103:15, 16). Officer Lucas initiated a traffic stop, approached the driver (Powell), explained the reason for the stop, and asked to see Powell's driver's license, registration, and proof of insurance (R. 103:17-18). Powell handed the vehicle registration of Lucas and held his driver's license up for Lucas to see (R. 103:18). Lucas ultimately reached through the window and took the license from Powell (R. 103:18). Officer Lucas testified that he again asked for the proof of insurance, but instead of answering Powell began to open his car door (R. 103:18).

noncompliance with the requirements of Utah R. Crim. P. 11, Powell did not seek to withdraw his plea and the issue is not presently before this Court.

Lucas pushed against the door with his hand and asked Powell to remain in the vehicle (R. 103:18-19). Powell pushed the door open, pushing the officer back and off balance, and got out of the van (R. 103:19).

Officer Lucas testified that Powell's fists were clenched, his teeth were gritted, and he was breathing hard (R. 103:19). Lucas backed away, warning Powell "at least four times" to get back in the vehicle, and pulled his taser from its holster (R. 103:20). The taser was never deployed, however (*see, e.g.*, R. 130:23). Lucas also called for backup because he feared for his safety (R. 103:22). However, Powell never verbally threatened Lucas nor did he attempt to strike him (R. 103:40-41).

Powell told Lucas, "I can do whatever I want and I'm not getting back in" (R. 103:23). Powell then opened the rear door of his van, grabbed the temporary permit and pulled it off the window, wadded it up and threw it into the back of the van, and got back into the driver's seat (R. 103:23).

At that point the backup officers had arrived and Lucas had decided to arrest Powell for assault on a police officer (R. 103:23). He asked Powell to get out of the vehicle; Powell did so, with the "same demeanor" as previously (i.e., fists clenched, gritted teeth, and visibly angry) (R. 103:23-24). Powell then dropped his head and arms and turned around to be arrested (R. 103:24).

After obtaining a medical clearance for a Powell's pre-existing knee injury, Lucas processed the arrest on the aforementioned charges (R. 3-4, 103:41-42). Trial and appeal followed accordingly.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because the jury was instructed that it must find Powell acted *intentionally* in his interactions with Officer Lucas and because there was no evidence introduced that Powell intended to harm the officer, the evidence was insufficient to sustain the verdict.

ARGUMENT

I. The Evidence Was Insufficient to Show that Powell Intended to Assault Officer Lucas.

Where the evidence presented at trial, viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict, does not support a finding beyond a reasonable doubt on each element a crime, the verdict cannot be sustained. *See Colwell*, 2000 UT at ¶ 42, 994 P.2d at 185-86. Here, the state lacked evidence supporting a critical element of assault – the *mens rea*.²

With regard to the charge that Powell assaulted a police officer, the jury in this case was instructed in pertinent part as follows (R. 74):

The following are the elements of the crime of ASSAULT
AGAINST A PEACE OFFICER:

1. the defendant *intentionally*:

² The issue was preserved when trial counsel moved for dismissal based on the prosecution's "failure to meet the burden of proof in this matter" (R. 103:57; *see also* 103:83, defense motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.)

- a. attempted, with unlawful force or violence, to do bodily injury to another;
 - b. threatened, accompanied by a show of immediate force or violence, to do bodily injury to another; or
 - c. committed an act, with unlawful force or violence, that caused or created a substantial risk of bodily injury to another;
2. the victim was a peace officer;
3. at the time the defendant committed any act(s) described in element 1, the defendant knew that the victim was a peace officer;
4. at the time the defendant committed any act(s) described in element 1, the peace officer was acting within the scope of his authority as a peace officer ...

(emphasis added).

The *mens rea* of “intentionally” is therefore appropriately applied to each subset listed below section (1). The jury could convict Powell only if it found that he intentionally attempted to bodily injure a peace officer; intentionally threatened bodily injury with a show of violence; or intentionally committed an act that caused or created a substantial risk of injury. A person acts “intentionally,” as the jury was instructed, “when it is the person’s conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result” (R. 73; *see also* §76-2-103(1), Utah Code Ann.)

The state's evidence³ on Powell's mental state consisted of Officer Lucas's testimony that Powell pushed the car door against Lucas's hand and got out of the car breathing hard, with his teeth gritted and his arms "coming up" with fists clenched (R. 103:19). Powell was uncooperative about giving his driver's license to Officer Lucas (R. 103:18) and failed to comply with multiple commands that he get back into his vehicle (R. 103:20). Powell was undeterred by Lucas's implied threat to use a taser on him (R. 103:22) and told Lucas that he could do whatever he wanted and he was not getting back in his car (R. 103:23). Lucas also testified that Powell's demeanor was the same when he later commanded Powell to get out of the car (R. 103:23-24). Another police officer, who arrived after Powell had gotten back into the van, also testified that Powell appeared "very agitated, very angry ... just wanted to get out some frustration, some rage" (R. 103:50). This second officer testified that Powell "glared" at Officer Lucas and was "puffed up," with his fists clenched and a "real pissed-off" look on his face (R. 103:50).

However, Powell never verbally threatened Lucas (R. 103:40). He never attempted to strike the officer, nor did he voice any desire to do so (R. 103:40-41). As it turned out, Powell did not push the car door against Officer Lucas's hand to injure him, but rather to get out of the car and remove the temporary tag from the back of his van (R. 103:23). Officer Lucas never even felt sufficiently threatened

³ This paragraph marshals the evidence in the record on Powell's mental state and is intended to comply with Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9), requiring that a "party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding."

to deploy the taser (*see* R. 103:23).

Thus, there was no evidence whatsoever before the jury that Powell *intentionally* attempted to injure Officer Lucas, *intentionally* threatened an injury with a show of violence; or *intentionally* committed an act that caused or created a substantial risk of injury. All the prosecution established was that Powell intended to get out of his car, or that he intended to disregard Lucas's order to remain in the vehicle.⁴