2006

State of Utah v. Thomas Charles Powell : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant appeals a conviction for Assault Against A Peace Officer, a class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-102.4, 76-5-102, in the Fifth Judicial District Court in Washington County, State of Utah, the Honorable Eric A. Ludlow presiding¹. This court's jurisdiction is based upon Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e).

ISSUE PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue: Is the evidence sufficient for the jury to determine the Defendant intentionally assaulted Officer Lucas when he aggressively exited his vehicle causing the officer to lose his balance, and then approached the officer with his fists clenched and breathing hard?

¹ The Defendant was also convicted of failing to provide proof of insurance, and pled guilty to interfering with arrest, but these charges are not subjects of this appeal.

Standard of Review: To review a claim of sufficiency of the evidence the court reviews the evidence and only overturns the conviction when the evidence is so inconclusive or improbable that a reasonable jury must have entertained a reasonable doubt. *State v. Clowell*, 994 P.2d 177, 185-86 (Utah 2000).

STATUTES

The provisions to Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-102 and § 76-5-102.4 are contained in the addendum to the Brief of the Appellant and pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 24(b)(2) are incorporated herein by reference.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accepts and incorporates the Defendant's statement of the case except to note that not all of the Defendant's jail time was suspended. The Defendant was ordered to serve 10 days in jail. (R. 80-82; R. 104 pp. 6)

FACTS

On March 19, 2005 Officer Clayton Lucas of the St George City Police Department initiated a traffic stop on a van to investigate a perceived registration violation. (R. 103 pp. 16). The van had an expired temporary registration tag in the window as well as a license plate. (R. 103 pp. 16).

The driver of the van was George Aaron Powell, the Defendant. (R. 103 pp. 43-44). Officer Lucas informed the Defendant why he was stopped, and asked for license, registration, and insurance. (R. 103 pp. 18). The Defendant partially rolled down his window and showed his license to Officer Lucas, but did not give the license to Officer Lucas, who had to reach inside the vehicle and take it from

the Defendant. (R. 103 pp. 18). Officer Lucas obtained the vehicle's registration, and the Defendant's driver's license but not proof of insurance. (R.103 pp. 18).

When Officer Lucas again asked the Defendant for proof of insurance the Defendant started to open his van door. (R. 103 pp. 18). Officer Lucas pushed his hand against the door and asked the Defendant to remain in the vehicle. (R. 103 pp. 18). While Officer Lucas still had his hand against the door the Defendant "shoved" the door open which caused Officer Lucas to be pushed backwards and off balance. (R. 103 pp. 19). Officer Lucas used his training to "step off line" and keep from falling or stumbling into the street. (R. 103 pp. 44).

After opening his door the Defendant exited the van and came at Officer Lucas. (R. 103 pp. 19). The Defendant had his arms up with his fists clenched and he was breathing hard and was gritting his teeth. (R. 103 pp. 19). Officer Lucas had to back up and told the Defendant, "Get back in the vehicle. You know, for your safety and mine, get back in the vehicle now." (R. 103 pp. 20). Officer Lucas told the Defendant to get back in the vehicle at least four times and then pulled out his taser and pointed it at the Defendant while calling for backup." (R. 103 pp. 20, 22). The Defendant continued to "charge at" Officer Lucas. (R. 103 pp 22). Officer Lucas feared for his safety because of the Defendant's actions. (R. 103 pp. 22).

Officer Lucas retreated to the front of his vehicle, which was parked one and a half to two car lengths behind the van, at which point the Defendant was near the back of his van and he stated, "I can do what ever I want and I'm not

getting back in.” (R. 103 pp. 22-23). The Defendant then opened his van door, removed the temporary registration tag from the window and then returned to the driver’s seat and got in the van. (R. 103 pp. 23).

Within seconds of the Defendant getting back into his van other officers arrived to assist Officer Lucas. (R. 103 pp. 23). There were at least five officers present. (R. 103 p. 49). Officer Lucas asked the Defendant to exit his vehicle and opened the door to the van. (R. 103 pp. 23). Officer Lucas described the way the Defendant exited the vehicle as being in the exact same manner as when the Defendant first exited the van. (R. 103 pp. 23-24). Officer Felton, who arrived to assist Officer Lucas, stated that the Defendant was glaring at Officer Lucas, was “puffed up,” had his fists clenched and looked “pissed off.” (R. 103 pp. 50). After getting out of the van this time the Defendant appeared to realize that there were several officers present and “deflated.” (R. 103 pp. 24, 50-51).

The jury heard this evidence and returned a guilty verdict on the charge of Assault Against a Peace Officer. (R. 103 pp. 82).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Defendant is guilty of Assault Against a Peace Officer. The jury heard the evidence and reached the reasonable conclusion that the Defendant intended to assault Officer Lucas. The evidence showed that the Defendant forcibly opened his vehicle door into the police officer, and then charged at the police officer breathing hard with his fists clenched. The jury heard this evidence from Officer Lucas who informed the jury of the Defendant’s words and actions. Another

police officer also testified to what he observed and corroborated Officer Lucas. In many cases the issue of intent has to be inferred by the Defendant's words and actions, and it is appropriate for the jury to hear the evidence and conclude what the Defendant intended. *State v. Clowell*, 994 P.2d 177, 185-86 (Utah 2000). The jury heard the evidence and returned a guilty verdict against the Defendant. This verdict is supported by the evidence and should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SHOWING THAT THE DEFENDANT INTENDED TO ASSAULT OFFICER LUCAS.

There was sufficient evidence presented by the State to show that the Defendant had the requisite intent to assault Officer Lucas.

The jury convicted the Defendant of Assaulting a Peace Officer. A jury should only be overturned if “the evidence presented at trial is so insufficient that reasonable minds could not have reached the verdict.” *Clowell*, 994 P.2d at 185-86 (Upholding a conviction for attempted aggravated murder challenged based on sufficiency of the evidence related to intent). The evidence is reviewed, “in a light most favorable to the verdict.” *Id.*

Intent is often difficult to prove with direct evidence, and “may be inferred from the actions of the defendant or from surrounding circumstances.” *Id.*

(Citations omitted). The Utah Supreme Court explained in *State v. James*:

It is well established that intent can be proven by circumstantial evidence. Indeed, unless a confession is made by the defendant concerning intent, or unless the court is somehow able to open the mind of the defendant to

examine his motivations, intent is of necessity proven by circumstantial evidence.

819 P.2d 781, 789 (Utah 1991).

In this case, the State presented evidence showing, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the Defendant intentionally assaulted Officer Lucas.

The Defendant first assaulted Officer Lucas when he opened his van door. The Defendant started to open the door to exit his vehicle and Officer Lucas put his hand against the door closing it and asked the Defendant to remain in the vehicle. Instead of complying with the command, the Defendant shoved the door open while Officer Lucas still had his hand against the door. By shoving the door open the Defendant caused the police officer to lose his balance. In this interaction between the Defendant and the police officer the jury could infer from the Defendant's action that he knew the police officer still had his hand against the door, and that by opening the door with more force the Defendant was intentionally taking an action, with unlawful force or violence, that caused or created a substantial risk of bodily injury to another. The police officer was at substantial risk of bodily injury; he could have fallen to the ground, or could have been pushed into the street where there is the danger of moving traffic. Because Officer Lucas is trained on how to step if being pushed off balance, he did not suffer injury, but that does not change the fact that he was at substantial risk of bodily injury. The statute does not require that injury occur, only that there is a risk of injury. The evidence showed that the Defendant intentionally committed

an act, opening the door the way he did, that created a substantial risk of injury to Officer Lucas.

After exiting the vehicle, the Defendant continued to assault Officer Lucas. The Defendant is a much larger individual than Officer Lucas, and approached Officer Lucas breathing hard, with his fists clenched, and gritting his teeth. The effect of this posturing was obvious because it caused Officer Lucas to retreat, and remove his taser from its holster. Officer Lucas told the Defendant to get back in the vehicle and informed the Defendant he was asking him to get back into the vehicle, "for your safety and mine." (R. 103:20). Officer Lucas informed the Defendant by his words and his actions that there was a safety concern and the Defendant continued his threatening behavior. The jury could very reasonably infer from the situation that the Defendant was intentionally threatening Officer Lucas with an immediate show of force by walking aggressively at Officer Lucas with his fists clenched. Even assuming that the Defendant did not initially intend to threaten Officer Lucas, by continuing his aggressive behavior after Officer Lucas made it clear, through words and actions, that there was a perceived threat, the Defendant intentionally threatened the police officer. It is obvious from Officer Lucas' reaction that he felt threatened, and it is reasonable for the jury to determine that the Defendant was intentionally threatening Officer Lucas with a show of immediate force.

The Defendant intentionally assaulted Officer Lucas with the way he exited from his van, and then continued to intentionally assault Officer Lucas, by

threatening with an immediate show of force, in the way he walked aggressively at Officer Lucas with his fists clenched and teeth gritted.